

Madison 56ers Bylaws – March 18, 2021

Article I - Name, Location and Jurisdiction

Section 1.1. Name

The name of this Club is the Madison 56ers Soccer Club, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Club").

Section 1.2. Registered Office

The principal office of the Club shall be located at:

155 Braun Road
Oregon, WI 53575

The location of this office may change as the Board of Directors designates, and any such change shall be filed with the Secretary of State of Wisconsin.

Section 1.3. Affiliation

We intend to register and maintain good standing with all associations that govern the leagues and events in which the Club plays.

Section 1.4. Purpose

The Club is organized exclusively for charitable, educational, scientific, or religious purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended from time to time, and shall engage only in those activities permitted by said Section.

Section 1.5. Operational Limits

Notwithstanding any other provisions of these articles, the Club shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on

1. by a Club exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), or
2. by a Club, contributions to which are deductible under section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

Article II - Membership

Section 2.1. Classes of Members

The Club shall have the following classes of Members:

A. Athlete:

An Athlete is any player who has been rostered to a Club team. Athletes below the age of majority for the State of Wisconsin shall be represented in their membership capacity by their parent(s) or legal guardian(s), who are thereby deemed to be Members of the Club.

B. Parent/Guardian of Majority Age Athlete:

Any parent(s) or guardian(s) of an Athlete who has reached the legal age of majority for the State of Wisconsin.

C. Coach:

Any person employed by the Club in a coaching capacity.

D. At-Large Member:

Any person who is employed by the Club or holds a voluntary position within the Club. In addition, an alumnus/alumna or a supporter of the Club who has requested Membership and has received the approval of the Board of Directors, is deemed to be an At-Large Member of the Club.

Section 2.2. Duration of Membership

In all cases, except as outlined differently above, membership in the Club will align with the Club's fiscal year as it is defined in Section 12.1.

Section 2.3. Suspension and Revocation of Membership

The Board of Directors, by a two-thirds vote, may suspend or revoke the membership of any member for:

1. Failure to adhere to the Club's **Member Financial Commitment Policy**;
2. Violating these bylaws of the Club or any affiliations in which the Club participates;
3. Violating the **Member Code of Conduct**, or any other published policies of the Club; or
4. Conviction of a crime which evidences a lack of moral character or honesty.

Section 2.4. Member Voting Rights

Each member of the Club, except the Parent/Guardian of Majority Age Athlete, shall have the right to vote on the Board of Directors and other issues properly before the general membership. Each Member eligible to vote at a meeting of the Members shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote on each matter to come before the meeting. In no event shall cumulative voting be permitted in connection with the election of directors or otherwise. A Member eligible to vote at any meeting of the Members shall be entitled to vote either in person or by proxy appointed in writing or through an electronic transmission. A proxy must bring a written document signed by the Member indicating authorization to cast a proxy vote.

Section 2.5. Meetings of the Membership

- A. An annual meeting of the membership of the Club shall be held in the first quarter of each calendar year, unless another date or time is designated by the Board of Directors, for the purpose of electing Directors.
- B. Regular meetings of the Members may be held at a time and place as the Board of Directors may designate.
- C. Special meetings of the Members may be called by the President, or, if requested in writing, by a majority of the Board of Directors.
- D. Notice shall be given of the date, hour, and place of all Member meetings to each member at least five (5) days in advance. Notice is deemed given by the mailing of a Club newsletter, by posting on the Club website, or via electronic mail.
- E. The President of the Board of Directors, or in the absence of the President, the Vice President, or in the absence of both, the Treasurer shall preside over meetings of the Members. The Secretary of the Club shall act as secretary for the meetings.
- F. A quorum is necessary for the election of Board of Directors' members. Such quorum shall consist of at least two (2) percent of the membership of the Club. Proxy votes are included in the quorum.

Article III - Establishment of Dues and Fees

The dues and fees of the Club shall be established by the Board of Directors after consultation with the Finance Committee.

Article IV - Board of Directors

Section 4.1. Powers and Responsibility

The powers of the Club shall be vested in the Board of Directors, which shall have charge, control and management of the property and affairs of the Club and shall abide by the **Board Member**

Agreement. Directors shall be elected by the Members at the annual meeting of the Members as provided for in Section 2.5 of these Bylaws.

Section 4.2. Number

The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than three (3) nor more than fifteen (15) members. When, because of death, resignation, retirement or removal, there shall be less than three Directors remaining, the remaining Directors shall constitute the Board of Directors until the vacancy(ies) are filled as hereinafter provided. In such an event, said vacancy(ies) shall be filled as soon as reasonably possible. The Board of Directors shall decide on the exact number of Board seats at the meeting prior to the annual meeting of the Members.

Section 4.3. Ex Officio Directors

The Board of Directors may declare that individuals holding specific Club positions, including but not limited to Director of Coaching, are ex officio members of the Board of Directors, subject to any voting rights and/or restrictions noted in Section 5.6. The Board of Directors shall decide annually on the specific Club positions which will be extended ex officio membership to the Board of Directors.

Terms of office of an ex officio director shall coincide with that director's respective position within the Club connected to the director seat. Upon an ex officio director's resignation or removal from that position, the term of office as a director shall immediately cease. At that time, his or her successor shall become an ex officio director, occupying the place of the former director. Ex officio directors are not counted in the director limits declared in Section 4.2.

Section 4.4. Qualifications

Any individual who supports the enumerated goals and policy objectives of the Club shall be eligible for election or reelection to the Board of Directors. If the Board of Directors creates classes of membership, the election of one or more Directors may be limited to the vote of one class of members. Those candidates properly nominated by the Nominating Committee of the Board of Directors specified in Section 5.11, herein, shall be considered qualified for election to the Board of Directors. Other individuals not nominated by the Nominating Committee may be qualified for election to the Board of Directors provided a nominating petition signed by at least thirty (30) Members is delivered to the Club office at least three days in advance of the meeting of Members scheduled for the purpose of electing directors.

Section 4.5. Term

Each elected director shall hold office for a term of two (2) consecutive fiscal years or until his or her successor has been elected. A director may be re-elected to membership on the Board. Directors may serve no more than three (3) consecutive two-year terms, after which he or she may seek election to an open seat following a minimum one (1) term absence.

The term of office for each director shall be established in such manner that approximately one-half of the directors' terms expire each year. In the event of a change in the number of directors, the staggering of terms shall be preserved.

Section 4.6. Election by Members

Each Member of the Club as defined in Article II, except the Parent/Guardian of Majority Age Athlete, shall have the right to vote on the Board of Directors and other issues properly before the general membership. Nominees for seats on the Board of Directors receiving the highest number of votes for the vacancies existing shall be declared elected. In the case of a tie vote between or among candidates, there shall immediately be a run-off vote by secret ballot.

Section 4.7. Vacancies and Removal

Subject to the provisions of Section 4.5 hereof, the unexpired term created by any vacancy on the Board of Directors, whether by reason of death resignation, or removal, shall be filled by appointment by the remaining Board of Directors. A Board member so appointed to fill a vacancy shall be appointed in accordance with the qualifications set forth in Section 4.4 hereof.

Any elected director may be removed from office by a majority vote of the Members at any meeting of the Members, provided a quorum is established as per Section 2.5(F) hereof.

The Board of Directors may at any time vote to remove a Director found to be in violation of the Board Member Agreement.

Article V - Meetings of Directors

Section 5.1. Annual Meetings

The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual meeting of the Members at a place designated by the Board. The Board shall meet for the purpose of organizing the Board of Directors, electing the officers of the Club and transacting other business that comes before the Board of Directors.

Section 5.2. Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such time as the Board of Directors determines, no less than quarterly. No notice is required if a regular meeting place and time is established.

Section 5.3. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may also be called by one of the officers upon written request by a majority of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.4. Notice of Meeting

Except as otherwise provided for herein, notice of the date, hour, and location of all regular Board of Directors meetings shall be given to the directors at least three (3) days in advance. Electronic mail notice or posting on the Club's website shall be sufficient to constitute notice. Special meetings of the Board of Directors, provided a quorum of participants is achieved, may be conducted without prior notice provided that the meeting use any means of communication by which:

1. all communication during the meeting is transmitted to each participating director and each participating director is able to send messages to all other participating directors, or
2. all participating directors may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting.

Section 5.5. Quorum

The presence of a majority of the directors at a meeting shall constitute a quorum. If a quorum is not attained, the directors participating may adjourn the meeting to another place and time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present.

Section 5.6. Manner of Acting

Unless otherwise stated herein, a majority vote shall decide an issue provided a quorum is attained. Each director, excluding any ex officio directors, shall be entitled to one vote on all matters coming before the Board. There shall be no voting by proxy. No director shall vote on, or participate in the discussion of, any matter in which he or she has a financial or employment interest, or any matter involving the discipline of a person who is related to the director or on the team with which the person is associated.

Section 5.7. Presumption of Assent

A director of the Club who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof, at which action on any club matter is taken, shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless his/her dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless he/she shall file his/her written dissent to such action with the person acting as the secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof, or shall forward such dissent by registered mail to the Secretary of the Club immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a director who voted in favor of such action.

Section 5.8. Conduct of Meetings

Robert's Rules of Order current edition shall govern the parliamentary procedure of the meetings of the Board of Directors in all cases in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws.

Section 5.9. Minutes

The Secretary shall take and keep the minutes of all Board of Directors' meetings, and shall distribute those minutes to all directors within ten (10) days of the meeting.

Section 5.10. Committees

The Board of Directors, by resolution, may designate one or more committees, either standing or special. Each committee shall have either as its chair or as a liaison to the Board, one or more directors appointed by the President and confirmed by the Board of Directors, which to the extent provided in said resolution as initially adopted, and as thereafter supplemented or amended by further resolution shall have and may exercise, when the Board of Directors is not in session, the powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the club in a manner consistent with direction given by the Board of Directors, except action in respect to election of officers or committees created pursuant to this section. The Board of Directors may elect one or more directors as alternate members of any such committee who may take the place of any absent committee member or members at any meeting of such committee, upon request by the President or upon request by the chairperson of such committee meeting. Each such committee shall fix its own rules governing the conduct of its activities and shall make such a report as the Board of Directors may request.

Section 5.11. Nominating Committee

There shall be a Nominating Committee whose task shall be to make recommendations to the Board of Directors for candidates to be included on the ballot for the Board of Directors whose terms have expired. This committee shall be chaired by the President and shall include the current Board of Directors members who are not up for re-election that year. The full Board of Directors shall nominate a slate of candidates to fill the seats of those directors whose terms will be expiring.

Section 5.12. Consent Without Meeting

Any action required or permitted by the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws or any provision of law to be taken by the Board of Directors at a meeting or by resolution may be taken without a meeting if consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by two-thirds of the directors then in office.

Article VI – Officers

Section 6.1. Number and Qualifications

The principal officers of the Club shall be a President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, each of whom shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors. Such other officers and assistant officers as may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors. No person may hold more than one officer position at a time. No person may hold the same office for more than four (4) consecutive years. Officers and assistant officers need not be members of the Board of Directors, but must be a Member of the Club

Section 6.2. President

The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Club and, shall in general supervise, direct, and control all of the business and affairs of the Club. He/she shall have authority to supervise agents and employees of the Club as he/she deems necessary, to prescribe their powers and duties, and to delegate authority to them. The President shall have the authority to appoint and determine compensation for Club employees subject to the approval of the Board of Directors. Such agents and employees shall hold office at the discretion of the President subject to the concurrence of the Board of Directors. He/she shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the Club, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, leases, reports and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the Club's regular business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors. He/she may authorize any Vice President(s) or other officer or agent of the Club to sign,

execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his/her place and stead. He/she shall assist the Board of Directors in the formulation of policies of the Club. In general, he/she shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 6.3. Vice President

In the absence of the President or in the event of his/her death, inability or refusal to act, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Any Vice President may sign, with the Secretary or Assistant Secretary, certificates for membership in the Club; and shall perform such other duties and have such authority as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the President or by the Board of Directors. Where the Board of Directors has determined to elect or appoint two or more Vice Presidents, each Vice President shall have such powers and duties and such designation, as may be prescribed for him/her by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.4. Secretary

The Secretary shall:

- A. keep and make available the minutes of the Board of Directors' meetings and meetings of the members;
- B. see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law;
- C. be custodian of the corporate records of the Club; and
- D. in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and have such other duties and exercise such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him/her by the President or by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.5. Treasurer

If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of his/her duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. He/she shall:

- A. have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Club; receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the Club from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such moneys in the name of the Club in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws; and
- B. in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and have such other duties and exercise such other authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him/her by the President or by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.6. Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers

There shall be such a number of Assistant Secretaries as the Board of Directors may from time to time authorize. The Assistant Treasurers shall respectively, if required by the Board of Directors, give bonds for the faithful discharge of their duties in such sums and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall perform such duties and have such authority as shall from time to time be delegated or assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 6.7. Other Assistant and Acting Officers

The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint any Member to act as assistant to any officer, or to perform the duties of such officer whenever for any reason it is impracticable for such officer to act personally, and such assistant or acting officer so appointed by the Board of Directors shall have the power to perform all the duties of the office to which he/she is so appointed to as the assistant, or as to which he/she is so appointed to act, except as such power may be otherwise defined or restricted by the Board of Directors.

Article VII - Indemnification

Section 7.1. Definitions

All capitalized terms used in this Article VII and not otherwise hereinafter defined in this Section 7.1 shall have the meaning set forth in Section 181.0871 of the Statute. The following capitalized terms (including any plural forms thereof) used in this Article VII shall be defined as follows:

- A. "**Corporation**" shall mean the Club.
- B. "**Director**" or "**Officer**" means any of the following:
 - a. An individual who is or was a director or officer of a corporation.
 - b. An individual who, while a director or officer of a corporation, is or was serving at the corporation's request as a director, officer, partner, trustee, member of any governing or decision-making committee, manager, employee or agent of another corporation or foreign corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.
 - c. An individual who, while a director or officer of a corporation, is or was serving an employee benefit plan because his or her duties to the corporation also impose duties on, or otherwise involve services by, the individual to the plan or to participants in or beneficiaries of the plan.
 - d. Unless the context requires otherwise, the estate or personal representative of a director or officer.
- C. "**Expenses**" include fees, costs, charges, disbursements, attorney fees and any other expenses incurred in connection with a proceeding.
- D. "**Liability**" includes the obligation to pay a judgment, settlement, forfeiture, or fine, including any excise tax assessed with respect to an employee benefit plan, plus costs, fees, and surcharges imposed under Chapter 814 of the Wisconsin Statutes, and reasonable expenses.
- E. "**Party**" includes an individual who was or is, or who is threatened to be made, a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding.
- F. "**Proceeding**" means any threatened, pending or completed civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit, arbitration or other proceeding, whether formal or informal, which involves foreign, federal, state or local law and which is brought by or in the right of the corporation or by any other person.
- G. "**Statute**" shall mean Sections 181.0871 through 181.0889, inclusive, of the Wisconsin Nonstock Corporation Law, Chapter 181 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as the same shall then be in effect, including any amendments thereto, but, in the case of any such amendment, only to the extent such amendment permits or requires the Corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than the Statute permitted or required the Corporation to provide prior to such amendment.

Section 7.2. Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Officers

To the fullest extent permitted or required by the Statute, the Corporation shall indemnify a Director or Officer against all Liabilities incurred by or on behalf of such Director or Officer in connection with a Proceeding in which the Director or Officer is a Party because he or she is a Director or Officer.

Section 7.3. Procedural Requirements

- A. A Director or Officer who seeks indemnification under Section 7.2 of the Bylaws shall make a written request to the Corporation. Subject to Section 7.3(B), within sixty (60) days of the Corporation's receipt of such request, the Corporation shall pay or reimburse the Director or Officer for the entire amount of Liabilities incurred by the Director or Officer in connection with the subject Proceeding (net of any Expenses previously advanced pursuant to Section 7.5).
- B. No indemnification shall be required to be paid by the Corporation pursuant to Section 7.2 if:
 - a. The indemnification is for liability in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation against the Director, except for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with

- the proceeding provided a determination is made in accordance with this Article VII that the Director did not engage in misconduct constituting a Breach of Duty; or
- b. The indemnification is for liability in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation against the Officer other than for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the proceeding; or
 - c. The indemnification is in connection with any proceeding with respect to conduct for which the Director was adjudged liable on the basis that the Director received a financial benefit to which the Director was not entitled, whether or not involving action in the Director's official capacity; or
 - d. Within the sixty-day period referenced in Section 7.3(A), (i) a Disinterested Quorum, by a majority vote thereof, determines that the Director or Officer requesting indemnification engaged in misconduct constituting a Breach of Duty or (ii) a Disinterested Quorum cannot be obtained.
- C. In either case of nonpayment pursuant to Section 7.3(B)(iv), the Board shall immediately authorize by resolution that an Authority, as provided in Section 7.4, determine whether the Director's or Officer's conduct constituted a Breach of Duty and, therefore, whether indemnification should be denied hereunder.
- D. (i) If the Board does not authorize an Authority to determine the Director's or Officer's right to indemnification hereunder within such sixty-day period and/or (ii) if indemnification of the requested amount of Liabilities is paid by the Corporation, then it shall be conclusively presumed for all purposes that a Disinterested Quorum has affirmatively determined that the Director or Officer did not engage in misconduct constituting a Breach of Duty and, in the case of subsection (i) above (but not subsection (ii)), indemnification by the Corporation of the requested amount of Liabilities shall be paid to the Director or Officer immediately.

Section 7.4. Determination of Indemnification

- A. If the Board authorizes an Authority to determine a Director's or Officer's right to indemnification pursuant to Section 7.3, then the Director or Officer requesting indemnification shall have the absolute discretionary authority to select one of the following as such Authority:
- a. The Board, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 181.0873(1) of the Statute;
 - b. Special legal counsel, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 181.0873(2) of the Statute;
 - c. A court pursuant to and in accordance with Section 181.0879 of the Statute.
- B. In any such determination by the selected Authority there shall exist a rebuttable presumption that the Director's or Officer's conduct did not constitute a Breach of Duty and that indemnification against the requested amount of Liabilities is required. The burden of rebutting such a presumption by clear and convincing evidence shall be on the Corporation or such other party asserting that such indemnification should not be allowed.
- C. The Authority shall make its determination within sixty (60) days of being selected and shall submit a written opinion of its conclusion simultaneously to both the Corporation and the Director or Officer.
- D. If the Authority determines that indemnification is required hereunder, the Corporation shall pay the entire requested amount of Liabilities (net of any Expenses previously advanced pursuant to Section 7.5), including interest thereon at a reasonable rate, as determined by the Authority, within ten (10) days of receipt of the Authority's opinion; provided, that, if it is determined by the Authority that a Director or Officer is entitled to indemnification against Liabilities incurred in connection with some claims, issues or matters, but not as to other claims, issues or matters, involved in the subject Proceeding, the Corporation shall be required to pay (as set forth above) only the amount of such requested Liabilities as the Authority shall deem appropriate in light of all of the circumstances of such Proceeding.

- E. The determination by the Authority that indemnification is required hereunder shall be binding upon the Corporation regardless of any prior determination that the Director or Officer engaged in a Breach of Duty.
- F. All Expenses incurred in the determination process under this Section 7.4 by either the Corporation or the Director or Officer, including, without limitation, all Expenses of the selected Authority, shall be paid by the Corporation.

Section 7.5. Mandatory Allowance of Expenses

- A. The Corporation shall pay or reimburse from time to time or at any time, within ten (10) days after the receipt of the Director's or Officer's written request therefore, the reasonable Expenses of the Director or Officer as such Expenses are incurred; provided, the following conditions are satisfied:
 - a. The Director or Officer furnishes to the Corporation an executed written certificate affirming his or her good faith belief that he or she has not engaged in misconduct which constitutes a Breach of Duty; and
 - b. The Director or Officer furnishes to the Corporation an unsecured executed written agreement to repay any advances made under this Section 7.5 if it is ultimately determined by an Authority that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation for such Expenses pursuant to Section 7.4.
- B. If the Director or Officer must repay any previously advanced Expenses pursuant to this Section 7.5, such Director or Officer shall not be required to pay interest on such amounts.

Section 7.6 Indemnification and Allowance of Expenses of Certain Others

- A. The Corporation shall indemnify an employee who is not a Director or Officer, to the extent he or she has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of a Proceeding, for all reasonable Expenses incurred in the Proceeding if the employee was a Party because he or she was an employee of the Corporation.
- B. The Board may, in its sole and absolute discretion as it deems appropriate, pursuant to a majority vote thereof, indemnify (to the extent not otherwise provided in Section 7.6(A) hereof) against Liabilities incurred by, and/or provide for the allowance of reasonable Expenses of, an employee or authorized agent of the Corporation acting within the scope of his or her duties as such and who is not otherwise a Director or Officer.

Section 7.7. Insurance

The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of a Director or Officer or any individual who is or was an employee or authorized agent of the Corporation against any Liability asserted against or incurred by such individual in his or her capacity as such or arising from his or her status as such, regardless of whether the Corporation is required or permitted to indemnify against any such Liability under this Article VII.

Section 7.8. Notice to the Corporation

A Director, Officer or employee shall promptly notify the Corporation in writing when he or she has actual knowledge of a Proceeding which may result in a claim of indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses hereunder, but the failure to do so shall not relieve the Corporation of any liability to the Director, Officer or employee hereunder unless the Corporation shall have been irreparably prejudiced by such failure (as determined, in the case of Directors and Officers only, by an Authority selected pursuant to Section 7.4(A)).

Section 7.9 Severability

If any provision of this Article VII shall be deemed invalid or inoperative, or if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any such provisions contravene public policy, this Article VII shall be construed so that the remaining provisions shall not be affected, but shall remain in full force and effect, and any such provisions which are invalid or inoperative or which contravene public policy shall be deemed, without further action or deed by or on behalf of the Corporation, to be modified, amended

and/or limited, but only to the extent necessary to render the same valid and enforceable; it being understood that it is the Corporation's intention to provide the Directors and Officers with the broadest possible protection against personal liability allowable under the Statute.

Section 7.10. Nonexclusivity

The rights of a Director, Officer or employee (or any other person) granted under this Article VII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses which the Director, Officer or employee (or such other person) may be entitled to under any written agreement, Board resolution, vote of shareholders of the Corporation or otherwise, including, without limitation, under the Statute. Nothing contained in this Article VII shall be deemed to limit the Corporation's obligations to indemnify against Liabilities or allow Expenses to a Director, Officer or employee under the Statute.

Section 7.11. Contractual Nature; Repeal or Limitation of Rights

This Article VII shall be deemed to be a contract between the Corporation and each Director, Officer and employee of the Corporation and any repeal or other limitation of this Article VII or any repeal or limitation of the Statute or any other applicable law shall not limit any rights of indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses then existing or arising out of events, acts or omissions occurring prior to such repeal or limitation, including, without limitation, the right to indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses for Proceedings commenced after such repeal or limitation to enforce this Article VII with regard to acts, omissions or events arising prior to such repeal or limitation.

Article VIII - Source of Funds

Section 8.1. Acceptance

The source of funds for the Club shall include membership dues, contributed funds, grants, or bequests to be held, administered and disposed of in accordance with the purposes of the Club.

Section 8.2. Restrictions

Contributions shall not have restrictions unless such restrictions are approved by the Board of Directors and are within the purposes specified in the Articles of Incorporation; provided that no restriction shall in any event impose any condition requiring return, transfer, or conveyance of any part or all of the contributed property (a) by reason of the dissolution of the Club, or (b) for any other reason that might cause the contributed assets to be used for purposes other than those specified in the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.

Section 8.3. Use

All contributions shall be restricted for use within the United States and its possessions within the purposes of this Club and without loss of income tax deduction under the Internal Revenue Code for contributions to this Club; the Board of Directors shall be permitted to so use the funds of this Club. No funds of the Club will be used to influence legislation and the Club shall not participate in any political campaign.

Section 8.4. Investment

Contributions not immediately needed for purposes specified in the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws shall be invested in such manner as the Board of Directors may determine without legal or statutory restriction provided that no such investment shall be made which would subject it to tax under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or corresponding provisions of any subsequent Federal tax laws. Investment powers may be delegated to an officer or committee appointed by the Board of Directors.

Article IX - Permitted Distributions

The Club may make a distribution to another corporation if:

- A. The distribution is made in accordance with the stated purposes of the Club;

- B. After the distribution, the Club will be able to pay its debts as they become due in the usual course of its activities;
- C. After the distribution, the Club's total assets will equal at least the sum of its total liabilities;
- D. The corporation to which the distribution is made may not distribute any part of its income to Members, directors or officers and is exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code; and
- E. The corporation to which the distribution is made does not permit or practice discrimination on the basis of race, sexual orientation, and/or gender identity.

Article X - Prohibited Transactions

Section 10.1.

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, neither this Club, nor any director, officer, employee or representative of this Club, on its behalf, shall carry on any activities, or take any action, not permitted to be carried on or taken by an organization exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and its Regulations as they now exist or as they may hereafter be amended or by an organization contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of such Code and Regulations as they now exist or as they may hereafter be amended.

Section 10.2

No part of the net earnings of the Club shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to its Members, directors/officers or other private persons, except the Club shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered.

Article XI - Contracts, Loans, Checks and Deposits

Section 11.1. Contracts

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Club, and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 11.2. Loans

No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Club and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances. This Section shall not be construed as applying to current or operational expenses of the Club.

Section 11.3. Checks, Drafts, Etc.

All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Club, shall be signed by President, Treasurer, or such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Club and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 11.4. Deposits

All funds of the Club not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Club in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as may be selected by or under authority of the Board of Directors.

Article XII - Finance

Section 12.1. Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Club shall be the year commencing on the 1st of July and terminating on the 30th of June.

Section 12.2. Financial Review

Necessary tax forms and financial reports will be prepared annually by an independent certified public accountant. A full financial audit shall be performed by an independent CPA when requested by the Board of Directors or if required by law.

Section 12.3. Budget

The Board of Directors shall adopt a budget for each fiscal year, and the Club shall function within the total of such budget. Any expenditure in excess of the associated approved budgeted amount must be authorized by the Board of Directors.

Section 12.4. Dissolution

Upon dissolution of the Club, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provisions for the payment of all of the Club's liabilities, dispose of all of the Club's assets exclusively for the purposes of the Club in such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for charitable, educational, or scientific purposes as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal Revenue Law), as the Board of Directors shall determine.

Article XIII - Miscellaneous

Section 13.1. Facsimile and Electronic Signatures

In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile signatures elsewhere specifically authorized in these Bylaws, facsimile and electronic signatures of any officer or officers of the Club may be used whenever and as authorized by the Board of Directors. An "electronic signature" is any electronic symbol or process attached to or logically associated with a document sent by electronic transmission and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign such document. "Electronic signature" includes:

1. a unique password or unique identification assigned to a person by the Club;
2. a person's typed name attached to or part of an electronic transmission sent by or from a source authorized by such person such as an e-mail address provided by such person as that person's e-mail address;
3. a person's facsimile signature; and
4. any other form of electronic signature approved by the Board of Directors.

Section 13.2. Electronic Transmissions

"Electronic transmission" or "electronically transmitted" means any process of communication not directly involving the physical transfer of paper that is suitable for the retention, retrieval, and reproduction of information by the recipient. Notice by electronic transmission is written notice. Notices and written consents may be given by electronic transmission. Each written consent given by electronic transmission shall contain an electronic signature of the person giving such written consent.

Article XIV - Amendments

Section 14.1. Initiation

A bylaws amendment may be initiated by the Board of Directors or by any Member. Any Member wishing to introduce an amendment to these bylaws shall prepare and deliver the specific language of the amendment to the Board of Directors along with a petition for consideration of the amendment signed by at least twenty (20) percent of the Membership. Following review by the Board of Directors, the proposed amendment shall be scheduled for a membership vote as defined in Section 14.2 below. If the Board of Directors proposes an amendment, the petition requirement is waived.

Section 14.2. Voting

Bylaw amendments must be approved by a vote of the Members at a meeting notified to the members not less than thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled vote. At a meeting at which a bylaws amendment vote is to be taken, a quorum of three-quarters of the Board of Directors, twenty (20) percent of the coaching staff, and two (2) percent of the Members is necessary. Provided a quorum is present, the proposed bylaw amendment(s) may be accepted or rejected with a majority vote of Members present. Members may authorize a proxy to vote on their behalf. A proxy must bring a written document signed by the member indicating authorization to cast a proxy vote.